
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
Parties: 
Imo Industries, Inc. 
1710 Airport Road 
P.O. Box 5020 
Monroe, NC 28111-5020 
USA 
Plaintiff 
 
Allweiler AG 
Allweilerstrasse 1, 
D-78315 Radolfzell 
Germany 
Plaintiff 
 
Seim S.R.L. 
Via A. Volta 
17-20090 Cusago (MI) 
Italy 
Defendant 
 
Innovative Continental Equipment, LLC 
225 Route 46, Suite 1A 
Totowa, New Jersey 07512 
USA 
Defendant 
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ROBERTSON, FREILICH, BRUNO & COHEN LLC 
Jeffrey A. Cohen (JC – 7975) 
The Legal Center 
One Riverfront Plaza 
Newark, New Jersey 07102-5468 
(973) 848-2100 
 
CLEMENTS | WALKER 
Russell M. Racine (NC Bar No. 33,593)  
Jason S. Miller (NC Bar No. 28,374) 
1901 Roxborough Rd., Ste. 300 
Charlotte, NC  28211 
(704) 790-3600 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, IMO Industries, Inc. and Allweiler AG 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
IMO INDUSTRIES, INC. and ALLWEILER 
AG, 
 
                                     Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
SEIM S.R.L., and INNOVATIVE 
CONTINENTAL EQUIPMENT, LLC, 
 
                                     Defendants. 

 
Civil Action No. _______________ 

 
 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR 
JURY TRIAL 

 
Document Filed Electronically 

 

 
 Plaintiffs IMO Industries, Inc., and Allweiler AG, by and through their undersigned 

attorneys, complaining of Defendants, allege as follows:  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this civil action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§1331 and 1338.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over all of the other claims 

asserted herein in accordance with 28 U.S.C. §1338(b) and 28 U.S.C. §1367(a), these claims 

being necessarily determinable together with the federal claims. 

{00049811.DOC;1} 

Case 2:33-av-00001     Document 1478      Filed 06/29/2007     Page 2 of 23Case 2:07-cv-03011-SDW-MCA   Document 1    Filed 06/29/07   Page 2 of 23 PageID: 6



2. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Seim s.r.l. pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §1391(d).  Defendant Seim s.r.l., (hereinafter “Seim”) is a foreign corporation transacting 

business in the United States.  Further, this Court has jurisdiction over Defendant Seim pursuant 

to N.J. Court Rules, R. 4:4-4 (2007), in that the Defendant conducts substantial business activity 

in the State of New Jersey and this District and, in the course of such business activity, 

Defendant Seim has engaged in the conduct described herein.   

3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant Innovative Continental 

Equipment, LLC, (hereinafter “ICE”) pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1400(b).  Defendant 

ICE is located within this district, having a principle place of business located at 225 Route 46, 

Suite 1A, Totowa, New Jersey 07512.  Defendant ICE conducts substantial business in this 

district and maintains a website on the Internet at www.ic-equipment.com, which is accessible in 

this district.  Further, this Court has jurisdiction over Defendant ICE pursuant to N.J. Court 

Rules, R. 4:4-4 (2007), in that Defendant conducts substantial business activity in the State of 

New Jersey and this District and, in the course of such business activity, Defendant ICE has 

engaged in the conduct described herein. 

4. Venue is proper in the District of New Jersey pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b), 

(c), (d) and 1400(b).   

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff IMO Industries, Inc. (hereinafter “IMO”) is a corporation duly registered 

and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware.  IMO’s primary place of business is located 

at 1710 Airport Rd., Monroe, North Carolina, USA.  IMO is an assignee/licensee of the right, 

title and interest in, and has standing to sue for infringement of United States Patent No. 

5,123,821. 
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6. IMO is an industry leader in supplying high quality products to the hydraulic 

elevator industry.  One of IMO’s products is a submersible elevator screw pump that 

incorporates the technology protected by the ‘821 patent.  This pump is comprised primarily of 

three rotors (spindles) in an axial flow design.  This innovative design provides for positive 

displacement through the pump housing and reduces the pulsation effect found in many 

elevators. 

7. Plaintiff Allweiler AG is a German corporation registered and existing under the 

laws of Germany and having a place of business at Allweilerstrasse 1, D-78315 Radolfzell, 

Germany.  This suit pertains to Allweiler’s ingenious pumps, designed and invented and owned 

by Allweiler.  These pumps are designed to reduce the pulsation effect in elevators.  The market 

for these pumps has grown significantly, due in large part to the success of Plaintiff Allweiler’s 

design. 

8. Defendant Seim is an Italian company with a primary location of Via A. Volta, 

17-20090 Cusago (MI), Italy.  Defendant Seim transacts business within the United States, 

specifically within this District.   

9. Defendant Seim manufactures pumps that are covered by the claims of Plaintiffs’ 

‘821 patent.  The pumps manufactured by Defendant Seim use the technology as claimed in 

Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent to reduce the pulsation effect in elevators.   

10. Defendant ICE is a limited liability company duly registered and existing under 

the laws of the State of New Jersey.  ICE has a principal place of business located at 225 Route 

46, Suite 1A, Totowa, New Jersey 07512.  Defendant ICE is the United States representative of 

Seim s.r.l., and accepts purchase orders for Seim pumps.  ICE is a distributor of the infringing 
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elevator pumps manufactured by Defendant Seim throughout the United States, and specifically 

within this District. 

COUNT I 
 

PATENT INFRINGEMENT, INDUCEMENT TO INFRINGE, AND CONTRIBUTORY 
INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘821 PATENT AGAINST SEIM S.R.L. 

 

11. Plaintiffs Allweiler and IMO hereby repeat and reallege the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 8 as if fully set forth herein. 

12. This is an action for damages, exemplary damages, interest, costs, attorney’s fees, 

and injunctive relief arising from Defendant Seim’s willful infringement of Plaintiffs’ ‘821 

patent under 35 U.S.C. §§271, 281, 284, and 285.  Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent teaches and claims a 

submersible elevator pump that reduces the pulsation effect found in elevators. 

13. Plaintiff Allweiler AG is the lawful owner of all rights to United States Patent No. 

5,123,821 (hereinafter the “’821 patent”) entitled “Screw Spindle Pump With A Reduced 

Pulsation Effect,” which was duly and lawfully issued by the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office on June 23, 1992.    A copy of the ‘821 patent is attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 1. 

14. IMO is the exclusive licensee of Allweiler AG to United States Patent No. 

5,123,821.  A copy of the exclusive license agreement is attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibit 2.  IMO has exclusive rights to distribute Allweiler’s elevator pumps in the 

United States.  IMO also has a legal standing to bring all actions and recover all damages for 

infringement of the ‘821 patent. 
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15. Defendant Seim has made, used, offered for sale, and/or sold in interstate 

commerce throughout the United States pumps that infringe one or more claims of the ‘821 

patent and will continue to do so unless enjoined by this Court.  Defendant Seim continues to 

manufacture and distribute infringing pumps throughout the United States that are within the 

scope of Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent, without license or authority from Plaintiffs.   

16. Defendant Seim had actual knowledge of Plaintiff IMO’s ‘821 patent.  Defendant 

Seim has been notified in writing of its violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under the ‘821 patent, and 

Defendant Seim has, with full knowledge of that patent, willfully and wantonly proceeded, and 

continued to infringe, in disregard of Plaintiffs’ rights thereunder.  Defendant Seim’s 

misappropriation of the pump design through infringement of the ‘821 patent has been deliberate 

and willful, and Defendant Seim will continue its infringing conduct unless enjoined by this 

Court. 

17. Defendant Seim has actively induced infringement of the ‘821 patent by 

encouraging its customers and prospective customers, including individuals and business within 

this judicial district, to purchase, use, offer to sell, and/or sell pumps that infringe the ‘821 

patent. 

18. Defendant Seim markets to customers in the United States by attending trade 

shows where it actively markets its infringing pumps.  Upon information and belief, Defendant 

Seim attends trade shows along with representatives of its United States distributor, Defendant 

ICE.  Defendants Seim and ICE unfairly compete with Plaintiffs by advertising for sale pumps 

that infringe Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent as their own devices. 
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19. Defendant Seim’s infringement has been willful, intentional and deliberate, with 

knowledge of and in conscious disregard of the ‘821 patent and Plaintiffs’ rights.   

20. Defendant Seim’s misappropriation and infringement of Plaintiffs’ designs 

through the infringement of the ‘821 patent has caused and will continue to cause damage and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs unless Defendant Seim’s infringing activities are enjoined by this 

Court.  Defendant Seim’s misappropriation and infringement have allowed Defendant Seim to 

obtain substantial profits and market share in the United States submersible pump market 

causing substantial and irreparable economic harm to Plaintiffs. 

21. Plaintiff Allweiler has no adequate remedy at law. 

22. Plaintiff IMO has no adequate remedy at law. 

23. Plaintiffs seek to enjoin Defendant Seim from all activities that constitute 

infringement of Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent. 

COUNT II 
 

PATENT INFRINGEMENT, INDUCEMENT TO INFRINGE, AND CONTRIBUTORY 
INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘821 PATENT AGAINST INNOVATIVE CONTINENTAL 

EQUIPMENT LLC 
 

24. Plaintiffs Allweiler and IMO hereby repeat and reallege the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 23 as if fully set forth herein. 

25. This is an action for damages, exemplary damages, interest, costs, attorney’s fees, 

and injunctive relief arising from Defendant ICE’s willful infringement of Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent 

under 35 U.S.C. §§271, 281, 284, and 285.  Plaintiffs’ ‘821 patent teaches and claims a 

submersible elevator pump that reduces the pulsation effect found in elevators. 
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26. Defendant ICE has made, used, offered for sale, and/or sold in interstate 

commerce throughout the United States pumps that infringe one or more claims of the ‘821 

patent and will continue to do so unless enjoined by this Court.  Defendant ICE continues to 

distribute infringing pumps throughout the United States that are within the scope of Plaintiffs’ 

‘821 patent without license or authority from Plaintiffs.   

27. Defendant ICE had actual knowledge of Plaintiff IMO’s ‘821 patent.  Defendant 

ICE has been notified in writing of its violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under the ‘821 patent, and 

Defendant ICE has, with full knowledge of that patent, willfully and wantonly proceeded, and 

continued to infringe, in disregard of Plaintiffs’ rights thereunder.  Defendant ICE’s 

misappropriation of the pump design through infringement of the ‘821 patent has been deliberate 

and willful, and Defendant ICE will continue its infringing conduct unless enjoined by this 

Court. 

28. Defendant ICE has actively induced infringement of the ‘821 patent by 

encouraging its customers and prospective customers, including individuals and business within 

this judicial district, to purchase, use, offer to sell, and/or sell pumps that infringe the ‘821 

patent. 

29. Defendant ICE markets to customers in the United States by attending trade 

shows where it actively markets its infringing pumps.  Upon information and belief, Defendant 

ICE attends trade shows along with Defendant Seim where together Defendants Seim and ICE 

unfairly compete with Plaintiffs by advertising for sale pumps that infringe Plaintiffs’ ‘821 

patent as their own devices. 

30. Defendant ICE’s infringement has been willful, intentional and deliberate, with 

knowledge of and in conscious disregard of the ‘821 patent and Plaintiffs’ rights.   
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31. Defendant ICE’s misappropriation and infringement of Plaintiffs’ designs through 

the infringement of the ‘821 patent has caused and will continue to cause damage and irreparable 

harm to Plaintiffs unless Defendant ICE’s infringing activities are enjoined by this Court.  

Defendant ICE’s misappropriation and infringement have allowed Defendant ICE to obtain 

substantial profits and market share in the United States submersible pump market causing 

substantial and irreparable economic harm to Plaintiffs. 

32. Plaintiff IMO has no adequate remedy at law. 

33. Plaintiff Allweiler has no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT III 
 

UNFAIR COMPETITION AND VIOLATION OF THE LANHAM ACT §43(A) 
AGAINST SEIM AND ICE 

 
34. Plaintiffs Allweiler and IMO hereby repeat and reallege the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 33 as if fully set forth herein. 

35. Plaintiffs Imo and Allweiler, through their commitment to innovative and quality 

designed and crafted products, have developed significant goodwill in the elevator pump markets 

and have enjoyed a prosperous relationship with retailers over the years. 

36. Defendants ICE and Seim, by themselves and in concert with each other, have 

passed off elevator pumps manufactured by Seim and utilizing Plaintiffs’ patent technology as 

their own designs.  By passing off their pumps as created and designed by Seim, Defendants 

Seim and ICE have caused and will likely continue to cause confusion as to origin, affiliation, 

sponsorship, connection, and association with the patented technology embodied by the elevator 

pumps.  Defendants’ conduct in passing off these designs as their own is in violation of Section 

43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §1125(a). 
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37. Plaintiffs IMO and Allweiler have been and continue to be injured and damaged 

by Defendants’ activities in passing off infringing elevator pumps as their own.  If Defendants’ 

unfair competition and infringement are allowed to continue, Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable 

injury for which they will have no adequate remedy at law. 

38. As a result of Defendants’ unfair competition, Plaintiffs IMO and Allweiler have 

sustained and continue to incur losses due to lost product sales and profits related thereto, plus 

interest on lost profits and reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees.  Plaintiffs also continue to 

incur damage to their goodwill and market reputation based upon Defendants’ unfair 

competition.  Plaintiffs IMO and Allweiler seek to recover these damages and additional 

reasonable attorney’s fees necessary to enjoin further unfair competition by Defendants. 

39. As Defendants undertook to pass off the infringing products and deceive 

customers as to the source of origin for the technology contained therein, Plaintiffs IMO and 

Allweiler seek the award of actual damages, exemplary damages, costs, and all Defendants’ 

profits. 

COUNT IV 
 

ATTORNEY’S FEES 

40. Plaintiffs Allweiler and IMO hereby repeat and reallege the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 39 as if fully set forth herein. 

41. Plaintiffs seek their reasonable attorney’s fees as allowed by law.  The willful 

nature of Defendants’ infringement renders this case exceptional within the meaning of 35 

U.S.C. §285, entitling Plaintiffs to an award of attorney’s fees. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Allweiler and IMO respectfully pray that the Court grant the 

following relief: 

1. That the court preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from 

making, assembling, importing, using, selling, and/or offering for sale, or inducing others to 

make, use, sell, and/or offering to sell, products that infringe the ‘821 patent; 

2. That Plaintiffs have and recover damages from Defendants, pursuant to 35 

U.S.C. §284, including interest from the date of infringement; 

3. For an award of treble the amount of compensatory damages found 

pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §284; 

4. For an award of punitive damages based on the willful and wanton nature 

of Defendants’ activities; 

5. That the Court declare this case exceptional and tax the Defendants with 

Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorney’s fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §285; 

6. That the Court tax the Defendants with the cost of this action; 

7. That the Court hold Defendants joint and severally liable for their 

misconduct because they or their agents participated therein or they knowingly accepted benefits 

from such wrongful conduct; 

8. That the Court order the impounding and destruction of all products in the 

Defendants’ possession, custody, or control that infringe the ‘821 patent and of all the products 

that can be used to make or advertise the infringing product; 

9. That the Court grant such other and further relief as it deems just and 

proper; 
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JURY DEMAND 

10. That all issues so triable be tried by jury. 

 
Dated: June 28, 2007 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 

/s/Jeffrey A. Cohen 
 JEFFREY A. COHEN, ESQ. (JC - 7975) 
 

       ROBERTSON, FREILICH, BRUNO & COHEN LLC 
One Riverfront Plaza 
The Legal Center 
Newark, New Jersey 07102-5468 
Tel.:  (973) 848-2100 
Fax:  (973) 848-2138 
Email:  jcohen@rfbclaw.com 
 

 
CLEMENTS | WALKER 
Russell M. Racine (NC Bar No. 33,593)  
Jason S. Miller (NC Bar No. 28,374) 
1901 Roxborough Rd., Ste. 300 
Charlotte, NC  28211 
Tel: (704) 790-3600 
Fax: (704) 366-9744 
Email: rracine@worldpatents.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs IMO Industries, Inc. and 
Allweiler AG 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO L.CIV.R. 11.2 
 
 I hereby certify that the matter in controversy is not the subject of any other action 

pending in any court or of a pending arbitration proceeding, and no other action or 

arbitration proceeding is contemplated. 

 

By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Cohen    
 JEFFREY A. COHEN, ESQ. 

Dated:  June 29, 2007 

ROBERTSON, FREILICH, BRUNO & 
COHEN LLC 
One Riverfront Plaza 
The Legal Center 
Newark, New Jersey 07102-5468 
Tel.:  (973) 848-2100 
Fax:  (973) 848-2138 
Email:  jcohen@rfbclaw.com 
 

 
CLEMENTS | WALKER 
Russell M. Racine (NC Bar No. 33,593)  
Jason S. Miller (NC Bar No. 28,374) 
1901 Roxborough Rd., Ste. 300 
Charlotte, NC  28211 
Tel: (704) 790-3600 
Fax: (704) 366-9744 
Email: rracine@worldpatents.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs IMO Industries, 
Inc. and Allweiler AG 
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EXHIBIT 2 
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